# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# JENNIFER WEATHERSPOON

\_\_\_\_

V.

NO. 2010-KA-0221-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

**APPELLANT** 

# **BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Mississippi Second Judicial District

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Erin E. Pridgen, MS Bar North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

**Counsel for Jennifer Weatherspoon** 

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## JENNIFER WEATHERSPOON

V.

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

NO. 2010-KA-0221-SCT

### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

# WEATHERSPOON IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT HER MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Second Judicial District Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Mississippi. In 2006, Jennifer Weatherspoon was indicted on one count of aggravated assault for the shooting of Segram Bacardi Foster, and one count of murder for the killing to Derrick McKinney.[R.F 7] Following the trial, the jury was unable to reach a verdict and the court granted a mistrial on both charges. [R.E. 9]

Weatherspoon was re-indicted on the charges in the Honorable Albert B. Smith, III presided over the second trial. At the conclusion, the jury rendered guilty verdicts on both counts. [R.E.13] Th court sentenced Weatherspoon to serve twenty (20) years for the aggravated assault charge, and to serve a life sentence for the murder charge. [R.E. 20] Weatherspoon is currently serving her sentence the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

Aggrieved, Weatherspoon filed a motion for JNOV, or in the alternative, a motion for a new trial, which the court denied. [R.E.17] Seeking further relief, Weatherspoon petitions this Court and has timely noticed this appeal.[R.E. 23]

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

One Friday night, several people were hanging out at the Hurricane nightclub in Cleveland, Mississippi. Carlos White (also known as "Primos") was one of the club's patrons. [Tr. 82] He arrived at the club and met his long-time friend, Derrick McKinney (also known as "Rell"). [Tr. 82-83] The men were standing at a table when Jennifer Weatherspoon entered and began talking to the men. [Tr. 83] White and Weatherspoon had dated about seven or eight years prior. [Tr. 84] While Weatherspoon and the men were flirting, Weatherspoon's mother approached and warned her against such behavior since her boyfriend was just outside of the club. About this time, Weatherspoon's boyfriend, Damien Johnson, entered the club and began cursing and grabbed Weatherspoon by the neck. He did not say anything to White or McKinney at this time. [Tr. 85]

Once White and McKinney stepped outside of the club, Johnson began arguing with the men. McKinney walked away but White remained in the confrontation. Before long, Johnson punched White and Johnson began fighting in the club's parking lot.

There were several people standing outside of the club on this dark night. [tr. 207] According to several witnesses, the only light that shown in the parking lot was the light radiating out of the opened front door of the club, as well as the light coming from behind the building. [Tr. 116]

Despite the dark conditions, White's brother, Segram Bacardi Foster, was not too far from the men, and headed toward the fight to assist his brother. [Tr. 123-24] McKinney told White earlier that he was headed home, but after seeing the altercation, he ran back across the street to attempt to break up the fight between the men. [Tr. 227] Shortly after Foster joined the fight, several witnesses claimed Weatherspoon reached into her purse and pulled out a small handgun. [Tr. 107,179, 196, 229] According to them, Weatherspoon was the only person in the parking lot with a weapon at the time and she began firing at the men. A bullet hit Foster in the back. [Tr. 127] Hearing the shots, McKinney retreated from the group, however, he was struck in his chest and back with a .22 caliber bullet. [Tr. 311-12] McKinney later died from the gunshot wound to his chest. [Tr. 320]

The police were unable to locate the gun that was used in the shootings. [Tr. 264] Dr. Steven Hayne, the pathologist that performed the autopsy on McKinney's body, testified that he could not determine if the first gunshot wound was caused by the same gun as McKinney's fatal gunshot wound. [Tr. 322] According to Jessie Robinson, White's and Foster's mother, Jennifer told her several months after the incident that she shot Foster, but that she was not responsible for shooting McKinney. [Tr. 157] Police received a report that Henry Taylor was also responsible for pulling out a gun and firing it that evening. [Tr. 270]. Police found Taylor several months after the shooting. [Tr. 271] They tested and excluded his weapon as the gun that was used to kill McKinney. [Tr. 272] However, police were not certain if this tested weapon was the same gun that Taylor had on the night of the shooting. [Tr. 271]

Weatherspoon did not testify at trial. [Tr. 327] Following the trial, Weatherspoon was sentenced to serve a life sentence for McKinney's death and twenty (20) years for Foster's shooting injury. [R.E.

]

#### SUMMARY OF THE CASE

There was a tragic shooting at the Hurricane Club in Cleveland, Mississippi, and as a result, three lives have been changed forever. Seagram Bacardi Foster was injured by a bullet and Derrick McKinney was fatally wounded. However, perhaps the greatest tragedy is that the jury was allowed to convict Jennifer Weatherspoon of murder when the State based its case on weak and tenuous evidence.

### **ARGUMENT**

# WEATHERSPOON IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT HER MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

## i. Standard of Review

The Mississippi Supreme Court has compared the standard of review of motions for new trials as being similar in nature to the Court sitting as a thirteenth juror. *Ross v. State*, 954 So. 2d 968, 1016 (¶127) (Miss. 2007). "A finding that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence indicates that the Court disagrees with the jury's resolution of conflicting evidence and requires a new trial." *Id.* 

The Court will order a new trial and allow the evidence to be placed before a second jury if the first jury's guilty verdict was based on "extremely weak or tenuous evidence, even where that evidence is sufficient to withstand a motion for a directed verdict." *Id.* (citing *Lambert v. State*, 462 So. 2d 308, 322 (Miss. 1984) (Lee, J., *dissenting*). The Court will only disturb the jury's verdict when the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that it would cause an unconscionable injustice if the verdict were allowed to stand. *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005).

### ii. Weatherspoon's murder conviction is based on extremely weak and tenuous evidence.

Weatherspoon voluntarily spoke with police and informed them that she was involved in the

shooting at the nightclub. [Tr. 250] She even told Foster's mom, Jessie Robinson that she was the person that shot Foster. [Tr. 157] However, the jury's verdict finding her guilty of shooting and killing Derrick McKinney is based on extremely weak and tenuous evidence.

Given the total circumstances of the events, it was very likely that someone else fired the fatal shot into McKinney. There is only extremely weak evidence that suggests Weatherspoon was the person that shot and killed him. Police did not have murder weapon and the bullet found in McKinney could not be traced back to a particular gun. [Tr. 264] The MS Crime Lab determined that McKinney was shot with a .22mm bullet, but it could not determine the source of that bullet. [Tr. 296]

According to Lab Technicians, .22 revolvers are very common weapons. [Tr. 303] Anyone at the club could have pulled out the weapon in the midst of the melee. In fact, police received a report that Henry Taylor, a patron of the club, pulled out his weapon and fired it that evening. [Tr. 270] Following the shooting, the police were unable to locate Taylor. However, several months later, police were about to cross-reference the gun Taylor had confiscated in another matter with this case. Taylor's weapon was excluded from being the murder weapon. [Tr. 271] However, there is little proof that the gun that was used in the cross-reference was the same gun that Taylor had in his possession on the night of the shooting.

Also, while there were many witnesses that said Weatherspoon was the only person in the parking lot with a gun, Foster admitted during trial that he also retrieved a gun after he was shot. [Tr. 134] He went to his car and pulled out his TEC-9, questioning the crowd about the identity of the shooter. [Tr. 135]

All of the witnesses agree that they saw Weatherspoon with a gun and that she was shooting in the direction of the fight. Many saw that she was the only person with a gun. However, none of the witnesses were in a position to see when McKinney was actually shot.

5

First, White and Foster admitted that they ran behind the club as soon as they heard gunshots. [Tr. 87] They did not see McKinney during this time and he did not even know McKinney had been shot until he arrived at the hospital. [Tr. 87-88] White admitted that he did not see the gun that shot McKinney and he had no idea whether McKinney was shot before or after Foster. [Tr. 104]

Romayel Patton went to the club that night with his cousin, Reggie Brown. [Tr. 174-75] Patton saw McKinney at the club while Patton was sitting in his car. [Tr. 176] He saw McKinney run after the shots rang out and he saw Weatherspoon shooting. [Tr. 176-77] When the shooting began, however, he ducked down in the car for his own safety. [Tr. 192] Likeswise, Patton acknowledged that there were a lot of people standing outside at the time. [T. 179]

Rodya Nicks came to the club with McKinney that night. [Tr. 224] When the shooting occurred, he and McKinney started running back across the street to the car. [Tr. 228] While he testified that he did not see anyone else shooting, his eyes were most likely concentrating on what was in front of him as he ran. [Tr. 230] He was headed to his car - out of harms way.

In addition to the many witnesses who did not see the shot that killed McKinney, the police found several caliber shell casings outside of the club. [Tr. 242] While the murder weapon was never recovered, the multiple shell casings, along with the fact that there were no eyewitnesses to McKinney's shooting provide enough reasonable doubt that no reasonable jury should have convicted Weatherspoon of murder.

#### CONCLUSION

The jury should have resolved the conflicting evidence in this case in favor of a not guilty verdict. Because the jury refused to do this, its guilty verdict was based on weak and tenuous evidence. The trial court should have granted Weatherspoon's motion for a new trial. Since the trial court erred in denying this motion, Weatherspoon prays that this Court will take the correct action and reverse this case and remand for a new trial.