IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JENNIFER WEATHERSPOON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2010-KA-00221-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR N

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT12
ARGUMENT
THE EVIDENCE, VIEWED IN ITS ENTIRETY, WAS LEGALLY
SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION OF MURDER.
WEATHERSPOON HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THE
TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS JUDICIAL DISCRETION IN
OVERRULING HER MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL GROUNDED,
IN PART, ON A CLAIM THE VERDICT OF THE JURY WAS
AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.
THE REASONABLENESS OF THE DEFENDANT'S APPREHENSION
WAS A QUESTION FOR THE JURY AND NOT FOR THE REVIEWING
COURT AS WAS THE GRADE OF THE OFFENSE, WHETHER MURDER OR
MANSLAUGHTER.
AFFIRMATION OF THE JURY'S VERDICT WOULD NOT SANCTION
AN UNCONSCIONABLE INJUSTICE
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979) 20
STATE CASES
Amiker v. Drugs for Less, Inc, 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss. 2000)
Anderson v. State, 904 So.2d 973 (Miss. 2004)
Blocker v. State, 809 So.2d 640, 645 (Miss. 2002)
Brown v. State, 556 So.2d 338 (Miss. 1990)
Brown v. State, 98 Miss. 786, 54 So. 305 (1911)
Bullock v. State, 391 So.2d 601 (Miss. 1980)
Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005)
Byrd v. State, 522 So.2d 756, 760 (Miss. 1988)
Carr v. State, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss. 1968)
Chambliss v. State, 919 So.2d 30, 33-34 (Miss. 2005)
Clemons v. State, 460 So.2d 835 (Miss. 1984)
Davis v. State, 530 So.2d 694 (Miss. 1988)
Dycus v. State, 875 So.2d 140, 164 (Miss. 2004)
Edwards v. State, 469 So.2d 68, 70 (Miss. 1985)
Ellis v. State, 667 So.2d 599, 612 (Miss. 1995)
Evans v. State, 159 Miss. 561, 132 So. 563 (1931)
Fairchild v. State. 459 So.2d 793 (Miss. 1984)

Flowers v. State, 601 So.2d 828, 833 (Miss. 1992)
Forbes v. State, 437 So.2d 59 (Miss. 1983)
Franklin v. State, 676 So.2d 287, 288 (Miss. 1996)
Gibby v. State, 744 So.2d 244, 245 (Miss. 1999)
Gibson v. State, 895 So.2d 185 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004)
Greer v. State, 819 So.2d 1 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000)
Griffith v. State, 381 So.2d 155, 157 (Miss. 1980)
Grooms v. State, 357 So.2d 292, 295 (Miss. 1985)
Groseclose v. State, 440 So.297, 300 (Miss. 1983)
Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983)
Hendrieth v. State, 230 So.2d 217 (Miss. 1970)
Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997)
Holloman v. State, 656 So.2d 1134, 1142 (Miss. 1995)
Hubbard v. State, 819 So.2d 1192 (Miss. 2001)
Hyde v. State, 413 So.2d 1042, 1044 (Miss. 1982)
Johnson v. State, 140 Miss. 889, 105 So. 742 (1925)
Jones v. State, 381 So.2d 983, 989 (Miss. 1980)
Jones v. State, 904 So.2d 149, 153-54 (Miss. 2005)
Lynch v. State, 877 So.2d 1254 (Miss. 2004)
Maddox v. State, 230 Miss. 529, 533, 93 So.2d 649, 650 (1957)
Maiben v. State, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981)
May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984)
McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 781 (Miss. 1993)

McQueen v. State, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss. 1982)
Mitchell v. State, 572 So.2d 865, 867 (Miss. 1990)
Pearson v. State, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss. 1983)
Rainer v. State, 473 So.2d 172, 173 (Miss. 1985)
Robinson v. State, 566 So.2d 1240, 1242 (Miss. 1990)
Russell v. State, 497 So.2d 75 (Miss. 1986)
Shields v. State, 244 Miss. 543, 144 So.2d 786 (1962)
Smith v. State, 925 So.2d 825, 830 (Miss. 2006)
Stewart v. State, 986 So.2d 304 (Miss. 2008)
Stokes v. State, 240 Miss. 453, 128 So.2d 341 (1961)
Todd v. State, 806 So.2d 1086, 1090 (Miss. 2001)
Valmain v. State, 5 So.3rd 1079, 1086 (¶30) (Miss.2009
Wetz v. State, 503 So.2d 830, 868-68 (Miss. 1987)
Yates v. State, 685 So.2d 715, 718 (Miss. 1996)
Young v. State, 420 So.2d 1055, 1057 (Miss. 1982)
Young v. State, 962 So.2d 110, 116 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007)
STATE STATUTES
Miss Code Ann 807 2 7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JENNIFER WEATHERSPOON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2010-KA-00221-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The focal point in this appeal is the sufficiency and weight of the evidence used to convict Jennifer Weatherspoon of murder less than capital.

Her conviction of aggravated assault is not contested. (Brief of the Appellant at 4-6)

During the early morning hours of September 23, 2005, a shooting took place in Cleveland at the Hurricane Club, an establishment that on this occasion lived up to its name.

According to the testimony of Seagram Bacardi Foster, he observed Damien Johnson, Weatherspoon's boyfriend, punch his brother, Carlos White, in the face. As Foster ran over to intervene in the fracas, he passed by Weatherspoon who said: "You running that way, you need to watch me." (R. 124, 133, 140)

Ear and eye witnesses to the shooting of Foster testified that Weatherspoon removed a small pistol from her purse and began shooting. Two shots were fired initially followed by several more shots, all in rapid succession. (R. 106, 200) Bacardi Foster was shot in the back and wounded;

Derrick McKinney who had also run over to intervene, perhaps as peacemaker (R. 227), was shot twice and died from his wounds. McKinney attempted to get out of harms way by running from the altercation. He ran past his friend, Rodya Nicks, who heard McKinney exclaim: "She shot me!" (R. 230)

According to Jessie Robinson, the mother of Foster and White, Weatherspoon told her several months after the incident that she shot Foster, who was wounded, but was not responsible for shooting Derrick McKinney who died from his wounds.

Weatherspoon, a non-testifying defendant, contends on appeal her murder conviction was based upon "extremely weak and tenuous evidence" and should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. (Brief of the Appellant at 4, 7) She claims there was "... enough reasonable doubt that no reasonable jury should have convicted Weatherspoon of murder." (Brief of the Appellant at 6) We respectfully submit, on the other hand, that affirmation of the guilty verdict(s) returned by the jury, quite clearly, would not work an unconscionable injustice. Whether or not the fatal shot came from Weatherspoon's gun or from another source was a question resolved adversely to Weatherspoon by the jury, as was its exclusive prerogative.

JENNIFER WEATHERSPOON, a young African-American female, prosecutes a criminal appeal from the Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Mississippi, Albert B. Smith, III, Circuit Judge, presiding.

Following a two count indictment returned on September 19, 2006, for aggravated assault (Count I) and murder (Count II), Weatherspoon was convicted on November 5-7, 2007, of both aggravated assault (Count I) and murder (Count II), charged under Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-7 (2)(b) and 97-3-19, respectively. (C.P. at 7-8)

The indictment, omitting its formal parts, alleged in Count I

"[t]hat **JENNIFER WEATHERSPOON**... on or about September 23, 2005,... did unlawfully, wilfully, and feloniously, and purposely or knowingly cause bodily injury to Seagram Bacardi Foster, with a deadly weapon, to-wit: a pistol,..." (C.P. at 7)

The indictment charged in Count II that Weatherspoon

"... on or about September 23, 2005, ... did unlawfully, wilfully and feloniously, without the authority of law, and with deliberate design to effect death, kill and murder a human being, to-wit: Derrick McKinney, ..." (C.P. at 7)

Following a trial by jury conducted on November 5-7, 2007, the fact finder returned dual verdicts of guilty of aggravated assault and murder less than capital. (R. 376-77; C.P. at 64-65)

On January 15, 2008, following a presentence investigation and report and during a sentencing hearing at which the defendant "... expressed great remorse for the loss of life in this case," Weatherspoon was sentenced by the trial court to serve twenty (20) years in the custody of the MDOC for the aggravated assault and to life imprisonment for the murder, both sentences to run consecutively. (R. 379-83)

One issue is raised on appeal to this Court.

"Weatherspoon is entitled to a new trial because the trial court abused its discretion when it failed to grant her motion for a new trial" which was grounded, in part, on claims (1) "[t]he evidence did not support a murder conviction;" (2) "[t]he Court erred in not granting the Defendant's Motion for a Directed Verdict," and (3) "[t]he verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." (C.P. at 60)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jennifer Weatherspoon and Damien Johnson were girlfriend and boyfriend. Both were hanging out during the early morning hours of September 23, 2005, at a nightclub in Cleveland known as the Hurricane Club. Carlos White and Derrick McKinney, a/k/a "Rell," were standing at

a table inside the club when Weatherspoon began flirting with the two men. (R. 84) Weatherspoon's mother told Weatherspoon not to mess with them because her boyfriend was outside. (R. 84) About that time, Johnson walked in, began cursing, and grabbed Weatherspoon by the neck. (R. 85) He said nothing to White and McKinney until they got outside at which time White and Johnson began to argue.

McKinney walked away while words were exchanged between White and Johnson in the parking lot. When White told Johnson it was Weatherspoon who was hitting on them and not vice versa, Johnson punched White in the face with his fist. (R. 85)

Several people were either standing outside the club that night or seated inside an automobile. One of those men was White's brother, Seagram Bacardi Foster, who was seated inside his car when he observed Johnson punch his brother. Foster jumped out of his car and ran over to assist his brother. (R. 123-24) As he ran past Weatherspoon who was standing nearby, she said, "You running that way, you need to watch me." (R. 124) According to Foster, he never threw a punch before he got shot in the back by someone. He did not see Weatherspoon shoot him but she was the only person in a position to do so, and he was informed by White, his brother, who hollered, "Yeah, she shot you." (R. 87)

Prior to the fisticuffs, Foster had observed Derrick McKinney across the street. (R. 122) Upon seeing the altercation between Johnson and White, McKinney attempted to intervene as a peacemaker. (R. 227) As he approached the combatants, McKinney was shot twice, once in the chest and once in the shoulder. The fatal wound to the chest was caused by a .22 bullet. McKinney, while trying to get out of harms way, was heard to say, "She shot me." (R. 230)

Thirteen (13) witnesses testified for the State during its case-in-chief, including Carlos White, an ear and eyewitness who described the incident as follows:

- Q. [BY PROSECUTOR FLINT:] But you saw you saw her?

 A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. What did you see her do, again?
- A. I saw - she went in her purse and got a gun and started shooting.
 - Q. Did you see the gun?
 - A. Yes, ma'am.
 - Q. Do you recall what kind of size gun it was?
 - A. No, ma'am. I couldn't tell you.
 - Q. Do you recall hearing shots?
 - A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. Now, when you heard the shots did you know where the shots were coming from?
 - A. From Jennifer.
 - Q. Did you hear any other shots at that time?
 - A. Not at that time.
 - Q. Where was your brother when the shots were fired?
- A. Well, he - he got shot in the back. We ran - we didn't know he was shot. We ran around the back of the building when she started shooting.
 - · Q. When did you realize that your brother was shot?
- A. When we got around to the back. He said, "That blank didn't shoot me? He turned around and I hollered, "Yeah, she shot you."
 - Q. Did you see her shoot -
 - A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. -- the gun?

So you knew it was her?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Did you see Derrick McKinney? Did you see Rell up during this time?

A. No, ma'am. (R. 86-87)

Seagram Bacardi Foster, testified he was seated inside his car when he observed Johnson strike his brother, Carlos White, in the face. Foster got out of his car and ran toward the combatants: "I was going to help my brother out - - and she shot me in my back." (R. 124)

When Foster ran past Jennifer Weatherspoon who was standing "right on the side of my car" (R. 143), she said, "You running that way, you need to watch me." (R. 124) Before Foster could reach the combatants and pass a lick, "... she shot me in the back." Foster did not actually see Weatherspoon shoot him "[b]ut I seen her on the side of the car [and] [s]he told me, 'You need to watch me.'" After Foster was shot, Foster and White ran behind the building at which time Foster heard four or five more shots fired by a small gun. (R. 125)

According to Foster, McKinney, a/k/a "Rell," must have come from across the street. (R. 143) Foster testified during cross-examination that "I seen Jennifer going in her purse." (R. 151)

Jessie Robinson, the mother of Carlos White and Bacardi Foster, had known Jennifer Weatherspoon for years. (R. 155) She was not at the Hurricane Club on the night of September 23, 2005, but went to the hospital where she observed her son's wound. (R. 155) The bullet was not removed and to her knowledge is still there. (R. 156)

In November of 2005 (R. 166), Weatherspoon told Robinson that "... she didn't shoot Rell

[McKinney] but she shot Bacardi [Foster.]" (R. 157-58) Weatherspoon was upset and crying when she said this to Mrs. Robinson. (R. 172) Weatherspoon also said she didn't remember shooting "Rell." (R. 173)

Romayel Patton, a twenty-four (24) year old resident of Cleveland, former high school classmate of Weatherspoon (R. 174), and an ear and eyewitness, testified he and Reginald Brown were at the Hurricane Club the night of September 23, 2005. Patton and Brown were sitting in a car, Patton on the passenger side (R. 179), when a fight broke out several feet in front of their vehicle. (R. 175-76) Patton saw Weatherspoon holding a gun. (R. 179) He observed several shots fired by Weatherspoon, and immediately thereafter saw "Rell" run past his vehicle away from the fight as shots were still being fired. (R. 177, 181) "Rell's" posture at the time of flight was "[i]n a leaned over position." (R. 181) Patton heard "[a]bout six shots" all behind each other. (R. 178, 185) There were people in her way as Weatherspoon was firing. Patton saw fire coming from the muzzle of the gun. (R. 183) He did not see anyone else with a gun. (R. 181) All of the shots came from the same direction. (R. 182)

Reginald Brown, the thirty-nine (39) year old cousin of Romayel Patton and an ear and eyewitness to the events that transpired, was seated in the driver's side of the vehicle when the fight broke out. (R. 193-94) He observed Weatherspoon, who was standing in front of Brown's car, with a gun in her hand and yelling at the two combatants. (R. 196, 203-04) Weatherspoon was only "[t]wo or three feet" from the combatants. (R. 207) Brown heard her say: "Why y'all paying attention to him? You need to be paying attention to me." (R, 195)

Brown "... just seen the fire coming from the gun." (R. 196, 221) Brown heard between five and seven shots. (R. 197) There were two shots followed by five more. (R. 215)

Brown saw "Rell" run by the driver's side door contemporaneously with the shooting. (R. 199)

- Q. [BY PROSECUTOR FLINT:] He ["Rell"] ran by your car?
 - A. [BY BROWN:] Right by it.
 - Q. How was he looking when he ran past your car?
- A. He was - you know, he was in a panicked state like he was just running. I thought he was going to jump in the car. I didn't know he had been shot, you know. (R. 201)

When the shooting stopped, and as "Rell" ran by "the driver's side door of [his] car", Brown saw Weatherspoon turn and leave. "I seen her walking." (R. 198) Brown got out of his car and went across the street where he observed "Rell" lying in the grass - "he was alive for a minute." (R. 201-02)

During cross-examination, Brown testified as follows:

- Q. [BY DEFENSE COUNSEL:] Could you see what kind of gun Jennifer supposedly had?
 - A. No, I just seen the fire coming out of it.
- Q. Okay. You saw fire coming out of it. Was this right after you looked at the fight to see who was fighting?
- A. It pretty much happened at the same time. Once the fight started, was when you know I look up and see her shooting and I say to myself, no, she can't be doing this. And then, yes, she is.
- Q. Okay. Well, at first, you thought she was shooting in the air, didn't you?
- A. Yes, blank ones. Thinking that it's not happening in front of me.
 - Q. And then you say Rell come running your way, is that

correct?

A. Yes. (R. 209)

Brown did not see anyone else with a gun, only Weatherspoon. (R. 220-210)

Rodya Nicks, a twenty-six (26) year old resident of Cleveland and yet another ear and eyewitness to the events taking place, went to the Hurricane Club that evening with Derrick McKinney a/k/a "Rell." He observed an altercation between Damien Johnson and Carlos White. (R. 225) During the argument "Rell" was "back there by the car with me." (R. 227) "Rell" then decided to intervene in the argument and "[t]o break it up." (R. 227) Nicks saw Weatherspoon remove a gun from her purse and start shooting. (R. 228) Both Nicks and "Rell" ran across the street together. (R. 228)

Nicks had said in an earlier statement to law enforcement that Weatherspoon had a revolver. (R. 229-30) Before crossing the street, "Rell" exclaimed: "She shot me!" (R. 230) After crossing the street, "Rell" fell on the other side of Nicks's car. (R. 230)

Stig Peterson, an investigator with the Cleveland police department, investigated the incident. (R. 238) Peterson found a .380 shell casing at the scene but found no others. (R. 241)

A month after the shooting Weatherspoon, in the company of Damien Johnson, came to the station house and told Peterson she had found a box of .25 caliber shells at her home and wanted to bring them to me. She said they had been loaded into a gun they bought from a guy from Memphis who came by their house. (R. 239) She also told Peterson she had told Investigator Serio in an earlier statement that it was a .22 caliber. (R. 240)

Maurice Jones, a crime scene technician with the Cleveland police department, identified a .22 "... bullet that was taken from the body of Derrick McKinney and was examined at the crime

lab." (R. 245)

George Serio, a crime scene investigator for 25 years with the Cleveland police department, testified he received a call around 2:00 a.m. "... that there had been a shooting at the Hurricane Club, and I went out and went directly to that location." (R. 247) Serio checked on the conditions of both victims, one who was injured and the other who was dead. (R. 247)

The following morning, Weatherspoon admitted to Serio she had fired a gun. (R. 250) She claimed that Bacardi Foster also pulled out a gun and fired. (R. 251) A gunshot residue test on Foster, however, came back negative. (R. 254)

Weatherspoon stated her gun was inside her purse. The description of the gun she gave to Serio "...indicate[d] that it was a revolver and not an automatic weapon." (R. 251) She told Serio that as she was running away from the scene, she dropped the gun. She and her boyfriend jumped in the car and took off. (R. 252) The gun was searched for but never found. (R. 252)

Serio testified that if Weatherspoon had shot a revolver it would not have ejected any shell casings. Serio had never heard of a .25 revolver. (R. 252) He was familiar with a .22 revolver which could easily fit into a purse. (R. 253)

David Whitehead, a trace evidence technician, testified the kit associated with Seagram Bacardi Foster was negative for gunshot residue. (R. 281) This was consistent with him not having fired a gun. (R. 288)

Byron McIntire, a forensic scientist specializing in firearm and toolmark identification, testified that the projectile removed from the body of Derrick McKinney, a/k/a "Rell," "... was a .22 caliber projectile..." (R. 295-96) This projectile was not fired from the gun that McIntire was given to examine which was a revolver. (R. 296-97) That gun, a semi-automatic, belonged to Henry

Taylor and was obtained in another investigation. (R. 271-72, 298-300)

McIntire was not aware of the existence of any .25 revolver. (R. 297, 306-07)

Dr. Steven Hayne, the State's pathologist, conducted the post-mortem examination on Derrick McKinney. Dr. Hayne observed two gunshot wounds on McKinney, a non-lethal one in the left shoulder and a fatal wound "...located over the mid-chest wall slightly to the right of the mid-line..." (R. 312) He removed the projectile causing death which was consistent with a .22 caliber projectile. (R. 319)

The cause of McKinney's death was "... a gunshot wound to the chest [that was] penetrating in that [it] went into the body but did not exit and produced a gunshot wound of the right lung leading to massive bleeding into the chest cavity." (R. 320)

The manner of death was homicide, "... the taking of another - - a human beings life by another human being." (R. 321).

At the close of the State's case-in-chief, the defendant moved for directed verdicts of acquittal on both counts and a reduction of the murder charge to manslaughter.

The motion was denied. (R. 326)

After being advised of her right to testify or not to testify, Weatherspoon elected to remain silent. (R. 326-28) The defense thereafter rested without producing any witnesses. (R. 328)

The State produced no rebuttal. (R. 328)

Peremptory instruction was denied. (R. 331; C.P. at 53)

The defendant requested and received self-defense instructions and instructions submitting to the jury the lesser offense of manslaughter. (C.P. at 46-47, 48-49)

Following closing arguments on November 7, 2007, the jury retired to deliberate at 9:48 a.m.

(R. 375)

An hour and a half later, at 11:08, the jury returned with the following verdicts:

Count I: "We, the jury, find the defendant guilty of Aggravated Assault in Count II of the indictments." (R. 376; C.P. at 64)

and

Count II: "We, the jury, find the defendant guilty of Murder in Count II of the indictments." (R. 376; C.P. at 65)

A poll of the jury, individually by number, reflected both verdicts were unanimous. (R. 377)

Sentencing was deferred until January 15, 2008, at which time Judge Smith sentenced Weatherspoon to serve twenty (20) years in the custody of the MDOC for aggravated assault and to life imprisonment for murder. (R. 379-83)

On November 13, 2007, Weatherspoon filed a motion for new trial, alleging, *inter alia*, the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. (C.P. at 60-62)

The motion was denied on November 19, 2007. (C.P. at 70)

Weatherspoon received constitutionally effective representation at trial from Stan Perkins, a practicing attorney in Greenville.

Appellate representation by Erin Pridgen, an attorney with the Mississippi Office of Indigent Appeals, has been equally effective.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Weatherspoon's three exclamations uttered during the course of this tragic incident, when viewed in harmony with McKinney's exclamation after being hit, to wit: "she shot me!" (R. 230), point unerringly to Weatherspoon as the person who fired the .22 bullet that struck and killed McKinney. See Brief of the Appellee at p.16.

The evidence was clearly sufficient to sustain a finding by a reasonable, fair-minded, hypothetical juror that Weatherspoon shot and killed Derrick McKinney.

The trial judge did not abuse his judicial discretion in overruling Weatherspoon's motion for a new trial because the testimony and evidence concerning the identity of the shooter placed that question in the capable hands of the jury. The evidence fails to preponderate heavily, if at all, in Weatherspoon's favor.

Admittedly, there are some slight differences in the trial testimony and the extrajudicial statements given to crime scene investigator Serio.

No matter.

Lest we forget, "[t]he jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory and sincerity."

Jones v. State, 381 So.2d 983, 989 (Miss. 1980). See also Blocker v. State, 809 So.2d 640, 645 (Miss. 2002), (¶ 18) ["(I)t is up to the jury to weigh any inconsistencies or contradictions in [a witnesses] testimony"]; Greer v. State, 819 So.2d 1 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000), reh denied.

In Young v. State, 420 So.2d 1055, 1057 (Miss. 1982), quoting from Maddox v. State, 230 Miss. 529, 533, 93 So.2d 649, 650 (1957), this Court pointed out that "[s]eldom do witnesses agree upon every detail. Indeed, their failure to do so is often strong evidence each is trying to accurately portray the situation as he saw it, and that is to the credit, rather than the discredit of the witnesses."

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